A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/DECISION BELOW 

Jack Leek requests this Court grant review pursuant to RAP 

13.4 of the Court of Appeals' opinion in In re Detention of Leek, No. 

42573-4-II, filed March 4, 2014. A copy of the opinion is attached as 

Appendix A. A copy of the Court of Appeals' April24, 2014, order 

granting the State's motion to publish is attached as Appendix B. 

The opinion in Appendix A is the second opinion issued by the 

Court of Appeals in this case. The first opinion, which was published, 

is attached as Appendix C. After the State filed a motion to reconsider, 

the Court of Appeals ordered the parties to submit additional briefing.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. In a criminal trial, a manifest constitutional en-or occurs 

when the jury is instructed on a statutory alternative means of 

committing the crime that is not alleged in the charging document. In a 

line of cases, this Court has held that the "alternative means" doctrine 

developed in criminal cases applies equally to proceedings under 

chapter 71.09 RCW. Does the Court of Appeals' opinion holding that 
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no manifest constitutional error occurred when the jury was instructed 

on an alternative means not alleged in the petition conflict with this line 

of cases and present a significant question of constitutional law 

warranting review? RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3). 

2. Does the Court of Appeals' conclusion that Mr. Leek did not 

have a right to be present at the recent overt act hearing present a 

significant question of constitutional law? 

3. Was Mr. Leek's constitutional right to cross-examination 

violated when the State's expert relayed a prejudicial out-of-court 

statement but Mr. Leek never had an opportunity to cross-examine? 

4. Did the State act without statutory authority and in violation 

of due process when it filed a petition in Kitsap County but Mr. Leek 

was never convicted of a sexually violent offense in Washington State? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In 1984, Jack Leek was convicted in Alaska of two crimes that 

amount to "sexually violent offenses" for purposes of chapter 71.09 

RCW. CP 142-50, 765. He was released from prison in 2002 and 

moved to Bremerton, Washington. CP 191. In April2003, a search of 

a computer that Mr. Leek used at work uncovered several images of 

minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct. CP 391. He was 
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convicted in Kitsap County of 46 counts of possession of depictions of 

a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct. CP 152-63. 

On July 24, 2008, the Attorney General filed a petition in Kitsap 

County alleging Mr. Leek was a "sexually violent predator." CP 1-2. 

The State alleged Mr. Leek suffered from a "mental abnormality," 

namely pedophilia, but did not allege he suffered from antisocial 

personality disorder or any other personality disorder. CP 1-2. The 

State never amended its petition to allege a personality disorder. 

The State filed a motion asking the court to fmd that Mr. Leek's 

Kitsap County convictions for possession of child pornography were a 

"recent overt act." CP 297. The court held a hearing on the State's 

motion and denied Mr. Leek's motion to be present at the hearing. 

1114/11RP 4. The court found Mr. Leek's 2003 convictions for 

possession of child pornography were a recent overt act. CP 765-69. 

After a first trial resulted in a hung jury, a second trial was held 

in August 2011. The State's expert Dr. Arnold testified he had 

diagnosed Mr. Leek with both pedophilia and antisocial personality 

disorder, and that both disorders together caused Mr. Leek serious 

difficulty in controlling his behavior. 8/08/llRP 230, 289-91. The 

jury was instructed it may commit Mr. Leek if it found beyond a 
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reasonable doubt that he suffered from either a mental abnormality or a 

personality disorder, although the State never amended its petition to 

allege that Mr. Leek suffered from a personality disorder. CP 1580. 

The jury found Mr. Leek was a "sexually violent predator" and 

the court ordered him committed indefinitely. CP 1598-99. 

Mr. Leek appealed, arguing: ( 1) a manifest constitutional error 

occUlTed when the jury was instructed on an alternative means not 

alleged in the petition; (2) his constitutional right to be present was 

violated when he was not allowed to attend the "recent over act" 

hearing; (3) his constitutional right to cross-examination was violated 

when the State's expert relayed a highly prejudicial out-of-court 

statement made by Mr. Leek's sister without any opportunity to cross

examine her; and ( 4) the State acted without statutory authority and 

violated Mr. Leek's due process rights by filing the petition. 

Initially, the Court of Appeals issued a published opinion 

agreeing with Mr. Leek that a manifest constitutional error occurred 

when the jury was instructed on the personality disorder because it was 

not alleged in the petition. Appendix C. After the State filed a motion 

to reconsider, the CoUI1 of Appeals ordered the parties to submit 

additional briefing addressing this Court's recent decision in In re 
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Personal Restraint of Brockie, No. 86241-9. Appendix D. After 

receiving additional briefing, the court granted the State's motion to 

reconsider and withdrew its opinion. Appendix E. It issued a new 

opinion holding that the error in instructing the jury on an alternative 

means not alleged in the petition was not a manifest constitutional error 

that Mr. Leek could challenge for the first time on appeal and rejected 

Mr. Leek's other arguments. Appendix A. 

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS' CONCLUSION 
THAT NO MANIFEST CONSTITUTIONAL 
ERROR OCCURRED WHEN THE JURY WAS 
INS1RUCTED ON AN ALTERNATIVE 
MEANS NOT ALLEGED IN THE PETITION 
CONFLICTS WITII A LINE OF CASES FROM 
THIS COURT AND PRESENTS A 
SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF 
CONSTITUTIONAL LAW 

Beginning with In re Personal Restraint of Young, 122 Wn.2d 1, 

857 P.2d 989 (1993), Washington courts have consistently applied 

standards developed in criminal cases that are natural and logical 

components ofthe State's constitutionally-mandated burden to prove 

beyond a reasonable doubt the "elements" of the SVP designation in 

chapter 71.09 RCW proceedings. 
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Before the State may detain a person indefinitely pursuant to 

chapter 71.09 RCW, constitutional due process requires the State to 

prove the detainee is currently mentally ill and dangerous. Foucha v. 

Louisiana, 504 U.S. 71, 112 S. Ct. 1780, 118 L. Ed. 2d 437 (1992); 

U.S. Const. amend. XIV. In Young, this Court held Washington's 

statute satisfies due process because it requires the State to prove, 

beyond a reasonable doubt, that the detainee suffers from a current 

mental illness that renders him a present danger to the community. 

Young, 122 Wn.2d at 37-39. 

The State's constitutionally-mandated burden to prove current 

mental illness and dangerousness beyond a reasonable doubt carries 

with it a number of procedural protections that chapter 71.09 RCW 

proceedings share with criminal trials. For instance, the Young Court 

concluded that a necessary component of the State's burden of proof is 

the requirement that the jury be unanimous. Young, 122 Wn.2d at 4 7-

48. The Court reasoned the Legislature's use of the "beyond a 

reasonable doubt" standard "suggests an acute awareness of the need 

for heightened procedural protections in these proceedings." I d. 

In cases subsequent to Young, Washington courts have 

consistently treated the State's burden to prove the SVP designation 
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beyond a reasonable doubt as akin to the State's burden in criminal 

cases to prove the "elements" of a crime. This Court consistently labels 

the essential facts the State must prove in chapter 71.09 RCW 

proceedings as "elements." See, e.g., In re Det. of Post, 170 Wn.2d 

302, 309-10, 241 P.3d 1234 (2010) (in order to find detainee is SVP, 

jury must find State proved three "elements"); In re Det. of Pouncy, 

168 Wn.2d 382, 391-92, 229 P.3d 678 (2010) (term "personality 

disorder" must be defined for jury because it implicates an "element" of 

State's case); In re Det. of Halgren, 156 Wn.2d 795, 811, 132 P.3d 714 

(2006) (terms "mental abnormality" and "personality disorder" are two 

distinct means of establishing mental illness "element"). 

One "element" the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt 

is that the respondent "suffers from a mental abnormality or personality 

disorder." Post, 170 Wn.2d at 309-10; RCW 71.09.020(18). 

As in criminal cases, the "elements" the State must prove in 

chapter 71.09 RCW proceedings may encompass alternative statutory 

means. In Halgren, this Court held the mental illness "element" 

encompasses the two alternative means of "personality disorder" and 

"mental abnormality." Halgren, 156 Wn.2d at 811. 
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In In re Detention of Sease, 149 Wn. App. 66, 77-78, 201 P.3d 

1078 (2009), the Court of Appeals extended Halgren to hold that, as in 

criminal cases, each alternative means cannot itself be divided into 

"means within a means." The Court applied several criminal cases to 

conclude the jury need only have unanimously found Sease suffered 

from a "personality disorder"; they did not need to agree unanimously 

as to which personality disorder he suffered from. ld. at 78-79. 

Washington courts also consistently look to the criminal law in 

determining how the jury must be instructed regarding the statutory 

"elements" in chapter 71.09 RCW cases. In Halgren, the Court 

concluded the jury need not be instructed it must be unanimous as to 

which alternative means it found, as long as substantial evidence 

supports each alternative alleged. Halgren, 156 Wn.2d at 812. 

Similarly, in Pouncy, the Court concluded the jury must be 

instructed on the definition of "personality disorder" because the term 

is beyond the experience of the average juror and "implicate[s] an 

element of the State's case." Pouncy, 168 Wn.2d at 391. 

Thus, Washington courts have uniformly adopted standards 

derived from the alternative means doctrine developed in the criminal 

law to chapter 71.09 RCW proceedings. 
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A well-established component of the altemative means doctrine 

is that the jury may not be instructed on an alternative means that was 

not alleged in the charging document, regardless of the range of 

evidence presented at trial. State v. Severns, 13 Wn.2d 542, 548, 125 

P.2d 659 (1942); State v. Doogan, 82 Wn. App. 185, 188-90,917 P.2d 

155 (1996); State v. Bray, 52 Wn. App. 30, 34, 756 P.2d 1332 (1988). 

This Court recently reaffirmed this line of cases in In re Personal 

Restraint of Brockie, 178 Wn.2d 532, 536-37, 309 P.3d 498 (2013). 

It is well-settled that when the jury is instructed on an uncharged 

alternative means, a manifest error of constitutional magnitude occurs 

that may be challenged for the first time on appeal. State v. Laramie, 

141 Wn. App. 332, 342, 169 P.3d 859 (2007); State v. Chino, 117 Wn. 

App. 531, 538, 72 P.3d 256 (2003); RAP 2.5(a)(3). 

The standards regarding how the jury must be instructed that 

have developed in the Severns line of cases derive from the alternative 

means doctrine. See Severns, 13 Wn.2d at 548; Bray, 552 Wn. App. at 

34. The rule that the jury may not be instructed on an uncharged 

alternative means rests on the fundamental principle that "[t]he manner 

of committing a crime is an element" that must be properly charged, 

and "[o]ne cannot be tried for an uncharged offense." Bray, 552 Wn. 
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App. at 34. This Court should grant review and hold that this 

fundamental component of the alternative means doctrine applies 

equally to chapter 71.09 RCW proceedings. The Court of Appeals' 

holding to the contrary conflicts with this body of case law. 

Here, the jury was instructed on an alternative means that was 

not set forth in the petition. The petition alleged Mr. Leek suffered 

from "[a] mental abnormality, ... specifically, Pedophilia." CP 1-2. 

The petition did not allege Mr. Leek suffered from a "personality 

disorder." But the jury was instructed it could find Mr. Leek was a 

"sexually violent predator" if it found he suffered "from a mental 

abnormality or personality disorder." CP 1580 (emphasis added). 

Because the jury was instructed on an alternative means not set 

forth in the petition, a manifest constitutional error occun·ed that Mr. 

Leek may challenge for the first time on appeal. Severns, 13 Wn.2d at 

548; Doogan, 82 Wn. App. at 188-90; Bray, 52 Wn. App. at 34. 

2. WHETHER MR. LECK'S CONSTITUTIONAL 
RIGHT TO BE PRESENT WAS VIOLATED 
WHEN HE WAS NOT ALLOWED TO 
ATTEND THE "RECENT OVERT ACT" 
HEARING IS A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF 
CONSTITUTIONAL LAW 

A detainee in a chapter 71.09 RCW case has a constitutional due 

process right to be present at any proceeding where "his presence has a 
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relation, reasonably substantial, to the fullness of his opportunity to 

defend against the charge." Snyder v. Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97, 

105-06, 54 S. Ct. 330, 78 L. Ed. 674 (1934), overruled on other 

grounds by Malloy v. Hogan, 378 U.S. 1, 84 S. Ct. 1489, 12 L. Ed. 2d 

653 (1964); In re Det. of Morgan, 161 Wn. App. 66, 74, 253, P.3d 394 

(20 11 ). Whether a detainee has a constitutional right to be present at a 

recent overt act hearing is an issue of first impression. The Court of 

Appeals' holding that Mr. Leek did not have a right to be present raises 

a significant question of constitutional law. RAP 13.4(b)(3). 

Civil detainees in chapter 71.09 RCW proceedings do not have a 

constitutional right to be present "during in-chambers or bench 

conferences between the court and counsel on legal matters." Morgan, 

161 Wn. App. at 74 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). 

Thus, a civil detainee does not have a right to be present at a chambers 

meeting "where purely legal questions about the process of deciding a 

forced medication motion were discussed." Id. 

In contrast, a detainee has a right to be present at a recent overt 

act hearing because it does not involve "purely legal questions." 

If a person is not incarcerated at the time a chapter 71.09 RCW 

petition is filed, the State must show present dangerousness by proving 
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the person committed a "recent overt act." Young, 122 Wn.2d at 41. A 

"recent overt act" is "any act, threat, or combination thereof that has 

either caused harm of a sexually violent nature or creates a reasonable 

apprehension of such harm in the mind of an objective person who 

knows of the history and mental condition of the person engaging in the 

act or behaviors." RCW 71.09.020(12). 

If the person is incarcerated at the time the petition is filed, the 

State can meet the present dangerousness requirement by showing the 

individual is incarcerated for a "sexually violent offense" as defined by 

the statute, or for an act that would itself qualify as a recent overt act. 

In re Det. ofHenrickson, 140 Wn.2d 686, 695, 2 P.3d 473 (2000). 

Here, at the time the State filed its petition, Mr. Leek was 

incarcerated for possession of depictions of a minor engaged in 

sexually explicit conduct. That is not a "sexually violent offense" for 

purposes of the statute. See RCW 71.09.020(17). Therefore, the State 

was required to show Mr. Leek's convictions were for an act that 

qualified as a "recent overt act." Henrickson, 140 Wn.2d at 695. 

In deciding whether an individual is incarcerated for an act that 

qualifies as a recent overt act, the court applies a two-step analysis. 

Marshall, 156 Wn.2d at 15 8. First, the court inquires into the factual 
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circumstances of the individual's history and mental condition; second, 

the court decides, as a matter oflaw, whether an objective person 

knowing the factual circumstances of the individual's history and 

mental condition would have a reasonable apprehension that the 

individual's act would cause harm of a sexually violent nature. I d. 

The recent overt act hearing in this case was akin to a pretrial 

hearing at which a court determines whether the State may cross-

examine a testifying defendant about his prior crimes. In People v. 

Dokes, 79 N.Y.2d 656, 660, 595 N.E.2d 836 (1992), the New York 

court concluded the defendant had a right to be present at a pretrial 

conference between the judge and the attorneys on the defendant's 

motion to preclude the People from cross-examining him about his 

prior crimes. 1 The court explained, "[i]n determining whether a 

defendant has a right to be present during a pretrial proceeding, a key 

factor is whether the proceeding involved factual matters about which 

defendant might have peculiar knowledge that would be useful in 

advancing the defendant's or countering the People's position." Id. 

Even if the facts regarding the prior crimes are undisputed, the court 

1 This Court cited Dokes with approval in In re Personal Restraint 
of Lord, 123 Wn.2d 296, 306, 868 P.2d 835 (1994). 
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must still weigh "the nature of the conduct, its similarity to the pending 

charges, the extent to which it bears on the defendant's credibility, the 

age of the defendant at the time, the disposition of the charges and 

many other factors." Id. at 661. The defendant has a right to be present 

because he "is in the best position to point out errors in the [criminal 

history] report, to controvert assertions by the prosecutor with respect 

to uncharged acts and to provide counsel with details about the 

underlying facts of both charged and uncharged acts." I d. In short, 

"the defendant's presence will help to ensure that the court's 

determination will not be predicated on the prosecutor's unrebutted 

view of the facts." Id. (footnote, quotation marks and citation omitted). 

The purpose of the heruing in this case was to determine 

whether "an objective person knowing the factual circumstances of 

[Mr. Leek's] history and mental condition would have a reasonable 

apprehension that [the act for which he was incarcerated] would cause 

harm of a sexually violent nature." Marshall, 156 Wn.2d at 158. As at 

the hearing in Dokes, the court had to weigh the nature of the conduct, 

its similarity to the current charge, Mr. Leek's age at the time, and 

many other factors, including Mr. Leek's mental condition. Mr. Leek 

was in the best position to controvert factual assertions by the 
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prosecutor and provide counsel with details about the underlying facts. 

Therefore, he had a constitutional right to be present. 

The recent overt act hearing is markedly different from the 

kinds of proceedings-regarding purely legal and ministerial matters

at which a defendant does not have a constitutional right to be present. 

See, e.g., In re Pers. Restraint ofBenn, 134 Wn.2d 868, 920, 952 P.2d 

116 (1998) (no right to be present at hearing on motion for 

continuance); In re Pers. Restraint ofLord, 123 Wn.2d 296, 868 P.2d 

835 (1994) (no right to be present at hearings at which court deferred 

ruling on ER 609 motion, granted counsel's motion for funds to get 

defendant haircut and clothing for trial, settled on wording of jury 

questionnaires and pretrial instructions, set time limit on testing of 

certain evidence, announced its rulings on evidentiary matters that had 

previously been argued, ruled that jurors could take notes, and directed 

State to provide defense with summaries of its witnesses' testimonies); 

Morgan, 161 Wn. App. at 74-75 (no right to be present at chambers 

meeting where purely legal questions about process of deciding forced 

medication motion were discussed but court made no ruling). 

In contrast to those proceedings, the proceeding here presented 

an opportunity to rebut the State's view of the facts and defend against 
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the charge. Mr. Leek therefore had a right to be present. Snyder, 291 

U.S. at 105-06; Lord, 123 Wn.2d at 306; Dokes, 79 N.Y.2d at 661. 

3. MR. LECK'S DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO 
CROSS-EXAMINATION WAS VIOLATED 
WHEN THE STATE'S EXPERT WITNESS 
RELAYED A HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL OUT
OF-COURT STATEMENT MADE BY MR. 
LECK'S SISTER WITHOUT ANY 
OPPORTUNITY TO CROSS-EXAMINE HER 

In rebuttal, Dr. Arnold testified, over objection, that Mr. Leek's 

sister told police he would probably apply for membership at the 

YMCA when he moved to Bremerton because that is how he met 

victims in the past. 8/15/llRP 1043, 1046. Dr. Arnold testified "that's 

how [Mr. Leek] was really caught in 2003 is because his sister knew 

that he had this pattern of contacting YMCAs, and she informed local 

law enforcement to watch out for him." 8/15/11RP 1043. Mr. Leek's 

constitutional right to cross-examination was violated because he never 

had an opportunity to cross-examine his sister about the statement. 

A detainee in a civil commitment proceeding under chapter 

71.09 RCW has a constitutional due process right to "confront and 

cross-examine the witnesses against him." In re Det. of Stout, 159 

Wn.2d 357, 368-69, 150 P.3d 86 (2007); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; 

Const. art. I, § 3. It is well-settled that "[c]ross-examination is the 
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principal means by which the believability of a witness and the truth of 

his testimony are tested." Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 316, 94 S. Ct. 

1105, 39 L. Ed. 2d 347 (1974). 

Because of the potential for unfair prejudice created by the out-

of-court statement, Mr. Leek should have had an opportunity for cross-

examination.

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