RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jul 24, 2014, 4:09 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

NO. 90361-1

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of:

JACK LECK II,

Appellant,

٧.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

SARAH B. SAPPINGTON Senior Counsel WSBA #14514 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, Wa 98104 (206) 389-2019 OID #91094



#

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

#### IV. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Leck argues that the issue related to jury instructions conflicts with a decision of this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1); Petition ("Pet.") at 2. He argues that this issue, as well as that of his presence at a reconsideration hearing, involves

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In re Leck, COA No. 42573-4-II, Order Granting Reconsideration; Withdrawing opinion; And Setting As A Non-Oral Argument dated November 19, 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The revised decision, issued on March 4, 2014, has been ordered published. *In re Leck*, COA No. 42573–4–II, Order Granting Motion To Publish dated April 24, 2014. Because Westlaw's online service does not reflect this, citations to the operative opinion in the State's Answer will refer to the unpublished version of the March 4, 2014 Opinion.

significant questions of constitutional law. RAP 13.4(b)(3). *Id.* He does not identify the specific basis for review of the remaining issues. Because the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any decision of this Court, and does not raise any significant constitutional issues, this Court should deny review.

# A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Regarding The Jury Instructions Is Consistent With Established Precedent

Leck argues that, because the jury instructions involve the "elements" the jury was required to find in order to commit him, this Court must apply a criminal, rather than civil, analysis. Pet. at 5-10. The Court of Appeals properly rejected this argument. First, it is well established that the SVP law is civil in nature, and that, as such, the civil rules apply to these proceedings. Second, under CR 15(b), the State's Petition is deemed amended because Leck did not contest, and in fact offered, testimony related to a personality disorder. Third, because Leck cannot demonstrate that this issue, raised for the first time on appeal, involves a manifest error of constitutional magnitude, the issue is not properly before the Court. Finally, even if this issue were analyzed under a criminal standard and Leck were permitted to raise it for the first time on appeal, Leck suffered no prejudice as a result of the term's inclusion in the jury instructions and review is not merited.

#### 1. The SVP Statute Is Civil

The SVP statute is civil in nature. *In re Pers. Restr. of Young*, 122 Wn.2d 1, 23, 857 P.2d 989 (1993); *In re Det. of Petersen*, 138 Wn.2d 70,

91, 980 P.2d 1204 (1999); In re Det. of Williams, 147 Wn.2d 476, 488, 55 P.3d 597 (2002); In re Det. of Strand, 167 Wn.2d 180, 191, 217 P.3d 1159 (2009). Washington courts have repeatedly refused to confer upon SVP respondents the same rights as criminal defendants. See, e.g., In re Det. Of Stout, 159 Wn.2d 357, 369, 150 P.3d 86(2007) (Sixth Amendment right to confrontation); Peterson, 138 Wn.2d at 91 (Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights); Young, 122 Wn.2d at 24-25 (ex post facto and double jeopardy clauses); In re Det. of Ticeson, 159 Wn. App. 374, 380-81, 246 P.3d 550 (2011), abrogated on other grounds by State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 72, 292 P.3d 715 (2012)(Article I, section 22 of the Washington State Constitution).

## 2. Leck's Rights To Due Process Were Not Violated

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that, because Leck is not afforded the rights of criminal defendants under the Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22, "he must rely on the guaranty of 'fundamental fairness' provided by the due process clause." *Leck* at \*4, citing *Strand*, 167 Wn.2d at 191. Thus, in order to raise his claim of instructional error for the first time on appeal, he must show that the alleged error "violated the due process guaranty of fundamental fairness and that he was prejudiced as a result." *Id.* (citing RAP 2.5(a)(3); *State v. Gordon*, 172 Wn.2d 671, 676, 260 P.3d 884 (2011)). Due process is a flexible concept and to determine what process is due in a particular context, courts apply the balancing test set forth in in *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d (1976). *Stout*, 159 Wn.2d

at 370. The *Mathews* factors include: (1) the private interest affected; (2) the risk of erroneous deprivation of that interest through existing procedures and the probable value, if any, of additional procedural safeguards; and (3) the governmental interest including costs and administrative burdens of additional procedures. *Id.* The Court of Appeals, while noting Leck's "significant" interest in his physical liberty, correctly rejected Leck's argument that "trying Leck on that personality disorder alternative risked an erroneous deprivation of that liberty." *Leck* at \*5.

In reaching this conclusion, the court looked in part to the Civil Rules, which, except as otherwise provided in CR 81, govern SVP procedures. Williams, 147 Wn. 2d at 488. SVP proceedings are "special proceedings" within the meaning of CR 81 (Id.) but RCW 71.09.030, which governs the information that must be included in an SVP petition, does not address amendment of petitions.<sup>4</sup> As such, amendment is governed by CR 15(b), which provides that, when issues not raised by the pleadings are tried by express or implied consent of the parties, "they shall be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings." While amendment of the pleadings "as may be necessary to cause them to conform to the evidence" is permitted, "failure so to amend does not affect the result of the trial of these issues." CR 15(b). This provision of the Rules is designed to avoid "the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> RCW 71.09.030 provides in pertinent part as follows: "[a] petition may be filed alleging that a person is a sexually violent predator and stating sufficient facts to support such allegation. . . ."

tyranny of formalism" that characterized former practice. *Reichelt v. Johns-Manville Corp.*, 107 Wn.2d 761, 766, 733 P.2d 530 (1987).

Based on the record in this case, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that the State's failure to formally amend did not risk an erroneous deprivation of Leck's liberty. Leck at \*5. Leck's claim that he did not have notice of the State's intention to present evidence regarding a personality disorder is based entirely upon the fact that, in the petition filed in 2008, the State did not include an allegation that he suffered from a personality disorder. Pet. at 10. The record, however, is replete with evidence that Leck had actual notice of the State's intention to present testimony on his personality disorder, and indeed Leck presented testimony from his own expert to that effect.

As noted, there were two trials in this matter: The first, in February 2011, resulted in a mistrial (*Leck* at at \*2); the second occurred six months later, in August of 2011. In its Trial Memorandum prior to the first trial in February 2011, the State alleged that it would prove that Leck suffered from a mental abnormality *and/or* a personality disorder. CP at 525, 529. Leck's expert, Dr. Wollert, assigned a diagnosis of Antisocial Personality Disorder in his November 4, 2010 report, at least three months prior to the first trial. CP at 1636, 1646. Dr. Wollert then testified extensively regarding that diagnosis at trial. RP 8/10/11 at 753; RP 8/11/11 at 838-41, 903-04, 923-28, 944-45, 965-67.

The State submitted proposed jury instructions prior to trial that included an instruction stating that in order to commit Leck the jury must find that he suffered from a mental abnormality or a personality disorder, and Leck did not object to these jury instructions. CP at 1574-97; RP 8/15/11 at 1073, 1079. Nor did Leck at any point object to being tried on the issue of a personality disorder. Leck vigorously cross-examined the State's expert about whether his personality disorder caused him to offend sexually (RP 8/8/11 at 371-83), using his own expert's testimony to support his theory that, although he suffered from a personality disorder, it did not cause him to offend sexually. RP 8/11/11 at 838-43, 903-04, 923-28, 943-46, 965-67; RP 8/15/11 at 1125-27,1133. There was no risk, based on this record, that the State's failure to formally amend its pleadings placed Leck at risk of an erroneous deprivation of liberty.

Finally, the Court of Appeals was correct in its determination that the third *Mathews* factor also weighs in favor of the State. *Leck* at 12. Not only would third trial be "costly and burdensome," but, the court noted, it would be "meaningless... to give Leck a third opportunity to raise the same defense he used in the prior two trials." *Leck* at \*7.

Because Leck cannot demonstrate that his rights to due process were violated, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that he cannot demonstrate "manifest error affecting a constitutional right" such that he is permitted to raise this issue for the first time on appeal pursuant to RAP 2.5(a)(3). An error

is "manifest" if it either (1) results in actual prejudice to Leck, or (2) Leck makes a plausible showing that the error had practical and identifiable consequences. *Gordon*, 172 Wn.2d at 676. Leck has made no attempt to satisfy his burden of showing that the error resulted in actual prejudice or had practical and identifiable consequences and indeed, for the reasons identified above, it did not.

Ignoring the well-established precedent discussed above, Leck argues that this Court has "consistently applied standards developed in criminal cases" when matters related to the "elements" of the State's case are involved, and appears to argue that no showing of prejudice is required. Pet. at 5. This argument fails. First, the term "element" is not confined to criminal law, and its use to refer to those things the State must prove at trial in no way implicates the criminal law. Black's Law Dictionary defines the term "element" as "a constituent part of a claim that must be proved for the claim to succeed," and, by way of illustration, offers examples of "elements" drawn from tort and patent law. Black's Law Dictionary, Abridged Seventh Edition, 2000, at 424. Nor do the cases cited by Leck help him. Leck cites to this Court's use of the term "elements" in In re Pouncy, 168 Wn.2d 382, 229 P.3d 678 (2010). Pet. at 7-8. The trial court had rejected Pouncy's request to submit a jury instruction defining the term "personality disorder." 168 Wn. 2d at 391-92. This Court reversed. In so doing, however, this Court relied on both criminal and civil cases (See Pouncy at 390-391) and nothing in the opinion suggests that the

decision hinged on criminal law. Nor does *In re Post*, 170 Wn.2d 302,241 P.3d 1234 (2010) support Leck's argument: While the term "element" is used to refer to those things the State must prove (170 Wn.2d at 309-10), there is no suggestion that this terminology triggers a criminal analysis, and in fact the case contains no reference to the criminal law whatsoever.

Finally, even if, as Leck argues, this Court were required to apply the line of cases beginning with *State v. Severns*, 13 Wn.2d 542, 125 P.2d 659 (1942), his argument fails. *Severns* stands for the proposition that it is error for a trial court to instruct the jury on an uncharged alternative means in a criminal case and that, on appeal, it is the State's burden to prove that the error was harmless. *In re Personal Restraint of Brockie*, 178 Wn.2d 532, 309 P.3d 498 (2013). Even under *Severns*, any error is plainly harmless, as Leck had notice of the State's allegation that he suffered from a personality disorder eleven months in advance of trial and defended fully against the allegation in the August 2011 trial without objection.

# B. The Trial Court Properly Refused To Continue The Reconsideration Hearing

Leck argues that reversal is required because the trial court denied his last-minute motion to continue a hearing on the State's Motion for Reconsideration in order to permit him to be physically, rather than telephonically, present. Pet. at 10-16. Attempting to elevate this issue to one of constitutional magnitude, Leck argues that the question of "whether a

detainee has a constitutional right to be present at a recent overt act hearing," is "an issue of first impression," and hence "a significant question of constitutional law" pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3). Pet. at 11.

The Court of Appeals correctly rejected this argument, determining that Leck did not show that his presence was required where the trial court considered only undisputed facts, and where Leck "had the opportunity to speak during the hearing and to offer additional evidence following argument." Leck at \*9. In reaching this result, the court looked to in In re Det. of Morgan, 161 Wn. App. 66, 74, 253 P.3d 394 (2011), review denied 177 Wn.2d 1001 (2013). There, Division II, appearing to analogize to the criminal law, noted that a respondent in an SVP matter "has the right to be present at proceedings where his or her presence has a reasonably substantial relation 'to the ful[1]ness of his opportunity to defend against the charge." (citing In re Pers. Restraint of Lord, 123 Wn.2d 296, 306, 868 P.2d. 835, cert. denied, 513 U.S. 849, 115 S.Ct. 146, 130 L.Ed.2d 86 (1994)) but "'does not have a right to be present during in-chambers or bench conferences between the court and counsel on legal matters." Id., 123 Wn.2d at 306.

Even applying this criminal analysis, the court below correctly found that Leck's physical, as opposed to telephonic, presence at a hearing at which undisputed evidence was considered in order to resolve a purely legal issue would have added nothing to the hearing on reconsideration. Repeatedly mischaracterizing the reconsideration hearing as "a recent overt act hearing,"

(Pet. at 10, 11, 13), Leck argues that it "was akin to a pretrial hearing at which a court determines whether the State may cross-examine a testifying defendant about his prior crimes." Pet. at 13.

This is incorrect in two respects: First, the hearing in question was not the "recent overt act hearing." That hearing had occurred almost two months earlier. RP 11/5/2010. Leck was not present at that hearing, did not indicate through counsel that he wished to be present, and does not complain of his absence on appeal. Id. Nor was the hearing "akin to a pretrial hearing..." Pet. at 13. Rather, the hearing at issue was a hearing on the State's motion for reconsideration of the trial court's recent overt act ruling, in which the State argued that the trial court had erroneously applied the incorrect legal standard to the recent overt act analysis. CP at 1649-1659. In rejecting Leck's lastminute request for a continuance in order to be able to physically attend the hearing, the trial court noted that it would make its decision "based on the paper record that's presented to the Court," that it was "not something that I can take testimony on," and that it would consider any request by Leck's attorney to submit additional materials at the conclusion of argument. RP 1/14/11 at 4. Nor, as Leck argues, would Leck's presence have helped "to ensure that the court's determination will not be predicated on the prosecutor's unrebutted view of the facts." Pet. at 14, citing People v. Dokes, 79 N.Y.2d 565, 661, 595 N.E.2d 836 (1992). The trial court noted that, in making its ruling, it would rely only on those facts that were not controverted (Id. at 8, 2829) and, in making certain of its findings, explicitly relied in large part on facts as set forth in the report of Leck's expert based on Leck's admissions to that expert. CP at 766, Nos. 2, 3; CP at 1605-1646. Leck's physical, as opposed to telephonic, presence at a hearing at which undisputed evidence was considered in order to resolve a purely legal issue would have added nothing to the hearing on reconsideration.

Even if the trial court's denial of his motion to continue was error, it was harmless. Leck fails to show that his failure to be physically present at the hearing made any difference, and thus has not shown prejudice. By arguing that the court's consideration of "disputed facts" required his physical presence, he appears to argue that he was somehow prevented from presenting evidence that he might have presented had he attended the argument in person. He has, however, failed to demonstrate this. An error in the admission or exclusion of evidence that is harmless, *i.e.*, an error that poses no substantial likelihood that it affected the verdict, is not grounds for reversal. *Carnation Co. v. Hill*, 115 Wn.2d 184, 186, 796 P.2d 416 (1990). Leck cannot demonstrate that the fact that he was not physically present at the reconsideration prejudiced his case in any way.

# C. The State's Expert's Witness Properly Testified Regarding Leck's Sister's Report to Law Enforcement.

Leck next argues that his "constitutional right to cross examination" was violated when the State's expert relayed an out-of-court statement made

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